No. 13-110872 -A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

BRIAN SACHS, Claimant/Appellee,

v.

CITY OF TOPEKA,

and

SELF INSURED, Respondents/Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Appeal from the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board

Docket No.'s 1,053,921; 1,053,922; & 1,053,925

Matthew S. Crowley, #14169 CROWLEY LAW OFFICE, LLC 3500 SW Fairlawn Road, Suite 200 P.O. Box 3860 Topeka, Kansas 66604 (785) 215-8506 Phone Fax (785) 215-8517 matt@crowley-law.com Attorney for Respondents/Appellants

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by respondent in a workers compensation claim seeking review of the Appeals Board order affirming the award of the administrative law judge. This appeal involves one of three separately docketed claims decided by the administrative law judge's award which was issued on June 18, 2013. No review was sought before the Appeals Board by either party on Docket No.'s 1,053,921 or 1,053,922 but, the Appeals Board included them in the caption of its decision as a matter of policy, as the separate decisions for each docketed claim were contained in the same award issued by the administrative law judge. Judicial review is sought herein only as to Docket No. 1,053,925.

FACTUAL STATEMENT

As the Appeals Board only addressed the issues involved in Docket No. 1,053,925 in its review, appellant will limit its statement of the relevant facts which are pertinent to that docketed claim. For Docket No. 1,053,925, the Appeals Board affirmed the finding that the date of accident was November 16, 2010.(ROA Vol. 1, Page 81-102) On this date, appellee had been employed by the appellant as a Utility Systems worker. On November 16, 2010, the appellee was involved in a motor vehicle accident. He describes driving a large vehicle for appellant on his way to perform routine maintenance on fire hydrants and valves.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 64)

Appellee testified that the only injury he sustained in that accident was to his neck.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 64) Appellee acknowledged that appellant provided medical treatment for him after that accident. He recalls being seen by Dr. Donald Mead at the direction of the appellant on November 18, 2010, and being diagnosed with cervical sprain

strain.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 64-65) Appellee recalled being released to regular duty at that time by Dr. Mead but did not recall being instructed to return for follow-up care in three (3) days. (ROA Vol. 3, Page 65) Dr. Mead's record of November 18, 2010, clearly reflects the follow-up instructions. (ROA Vol. 7, Exhibit 4)

Appellee testified that he did not recall the next time he was seen for his neck. (ROA Vol. 3, Page 65) He did not recall being seen by Dr. Mead on January 7, 2011, for evaluation and release from care with no restrictions for his neck.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 65). Dr. Mead's testimony clearly establishes that the appelle was seen on January 7, 2011, for his neck (ROA Vol. 7, Page 26, Exhibits 3, 5 &6). Dr. Mead again testified that he released the claimant from care without restrictions on that date.(ROA Vol. 7, Page 26)

Appellee did not recall seeing Dr. Edward Prostic for his neck at the request of his attorney on January 14, 2011.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 66) Although appellee could not recall if Dr. Prostic recommended any treatment for his neck at that time, he did acknowledge Dr. Prostic did not place any restrictions on him for his neck.(ROA Vol.

3, Page 66) Dr. Prostic testified that he did not recommend treatment for the appellee's neck complaints nor did he place any restrictions on the appellee for his neck as the result of the January 14, 2011, evaluation.(ROA Vol. 5, Page 30)

Appellee could not recall, and did not believe, that he received any treatment or evaluations on his neck from the date he saw Dr. Prostic for the first time on January 14, 2011, until he saw Dr. Prostic again on August 10, 2011.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 67) During this entire period of time appellee continued to work for the appellant.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 67) As the result of the August 10, 2011, evaluation by Dr. Prostic, appellee acknowledged that Dr. Prostic did not place any restrictions on him for his neck and the doctor rated his neck complaints. (ROA Vol. 3, Page 67) Dr. Prostic substantiated the appellee's recollection.(ROA Vol. 5, Page 39) Dr. Prostic testified that the rating he provided for the appellee's neck complaints were caused by repetitious activities with his upper extremities. (ROA Vol. 5, Page 43)

Appellee served a demand on appellant for treatment to his neck under letter dated September 7, 2011.(ROA Vol. 3, Exh 4) Appellant sent the appellee for an orthopedic evaluation with Dr. Smith, who ordered an MRI. (ROA Vol. 3, Page 69) Dr. Smith ordered an injection and therapy to address the appellee's neck complaints.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 69). Dr. Smith released the appellee from care on April 24, 2012, and the appellee testified that he has had no additional treatment on his neck since that time.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 70) Appellee again saw Dr. Prostic on September

4, 2012, for the third and last time.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 70-71) Dr. Prostic again rated the appellee at that visit.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 71) Appellant had the appellee evaluated by Dr. Chris Fevurly on January 30, 2013.(ROA Vol. 6, Page 11)

Appellee acknowledged that he had settled a prior workers compensation claim against a previous employer on September 30, 2003.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 72) Appellee acknowledged that settlement was for a neck injury he received as the result of a motor vehicle accident he had on January 5, 2001. (ROA Vol. 3, Page 72) Appellee acknowledged that he had ongoing complaints of chronic problems with his neck since he settled that prior claim.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 73) He testified that he received chiropractic care for those neck complaints after the settlement.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 73) Appellee could not recall that he had seen his personal physician for neck complaints in October 2010 for which an EMG was ordered.(ROA Vol. 3, Page 73)

From an employment standpoint, after the motor vehicle accident of November 16, 2010, the appellee continued to be employed with the appellant until he was terminated effective December 14, 2011.(ROA Vol. 2, Page 35) During the entire time between the November 16, 2010, motor vehicle accident until the date of his termination on December 14, 2011, appellee never had any restrictions placed upon him for his neck complaints. (ROA Vol. 7, Page 28; ROA Vol. 5, Page 30 & 39) The cause of appellee's termination was for violation of appellant's policy pertaining to leave without pay availability for work. (ROA Vol. 8, Page 9) Ms. Russell,

appellant's Director of Human Resources, testified that the leave without pay availability for work policy is maintained by the appellant and is incorporated in the union contract under which the appellee was working.(ROA Vol. 8, Page 24) Ms. Russell testified that the disciplinary process involving the appellee's repeated violations of the leave without pay policy started on June 14, 2011, and the discharge action took place on December 14, 2011.(ROA Vol. 2, Page 35-36) Ms. Russell also testified that at the appellee's termination hearing, a union representative was present and that subsequent to the termination the union did not file any grievance in connection with the termination.(ROA Vol. 2, Page 29) Finally, Ms. Russell testified that, but for, his termination for cause for violation of the appellant's policy, there was no reason that the appellee could not have remained employed in his position with the appellant.(ROA Vol. 8, Page 9)

From a procedural standpoint, at the outset of the Regular Hearing the administrative law judge noted a date of accident for Docket No. 1,053,925 as November 16, 2010. (ROA Vol. 3, Page 5) In the award issued June 18, 2013, it is noted that the parties stipulated that the appellee met with personal injury by accident on November 16, 2010, arising out of and in the course of his employment with the appellant.(ROA Vol. 1, Page 83) The administrative law judge found that the appellee sustained a 5% permanent partial impairment resulting from the November 16, 2010, accident.(ROA Vol. 1, Page 100) Appellant sought review of that award only as to Docket No. 1,053,925.(ROA Vol. 1, Pages 103-105) The issue presented to the

Appeals Board was the nature and extent of disability resulting from the November 16, 2010, accident.(ROA Vol. 1, Pages 103-105) The Appeals Board determined that appellant was raising the date of accident issue for the first time on appeal and found that appellee sustained permanent impairment to his neck from both the motor vehicle accident and repetitive trauma.(ROA Vol. 1, Pages 186-195) Appellant seeks judicial review of the Board's order.

ISSUES

- 1) Is the Board's determination that the appellee suffered permanent impairment as a result of his accident of November 16, 2010, supported by substantial competent evidence?
- 2) Was the date of accident issue raised for the first time on appeal?
- 3) Can anticipated injuries be claimed under the Act?

SCOPE OF REVIEW

This Court's review of decisions by the Appeals Board is limited in accordance with the Act for Judicial Review and Civil Enforcement of Agency Action, K.S.A. 77-610 et seq., See K.S.A. 44-556(a). A workers compensation award is reviewed to determine whether the Appeals Board's findings of fact are supported by substantial competent evidence. *Mudd v. Neosho Memorial Regional Medical Center*, 275 Kan. 187, 191; 62 P. 3d 236 (2003). "The determination of whether the Board's findings of fact are supported by substantial competent evidence is a question of law." *Griffin*

v. Dale Willey Pontiac-Cadillac-GMC Truck, Inc., 268 Kan. 33, 34; 991 P. 2d 406 (1999).

In Griffin, the Court defined substantial competent evidence;

In workers compensation cases, substantial evidence is evidence possessing something of substance and relevant consequence and carrying with it fitness to induce conviction that the award is proper, or furnishing a substantial basis of fact from which the issue tendered can be reasonably resolved.

Id.

The standard of review was changed by amendment to K.S.A. 77-621 in 2009, and the new standard of review was fully described by this Court in *Herrera-Gallegos* v. H & H Delivery Service, Inc., 42 Kan. App. 2d 360, 362-363; 212 P. 3d 239, 242 (2009) as follows:

As amended, K.S.A. 77-621 now defines "in light of the record as a whole" to include the evidence both supporting and detracting from an agency finding. Thus we must now determine whether the evidence supporting the Board's factual findings is substantial when considering in light of all the evidence. In addition, the amended statute, K.S.A. 77-621(d), now requires that we consider both the credibility determinations that the hearing officer "who personally observed the demeanor of the witness" made, and if the agency head, here the Board, does not agree with those credibility determinations, the agency should give its reasons for disagreeing. We must consider "the agency's explanation of why relevant evidence in the record supports its material findings of fact." For us to fairly consider an agency's position should it disagree with a hearing officer's credibility determination, an explanation of the agency's differing opinion would generally be needed. See also L.2009, ch. 109, sec.13 (amending

K.S.A. 77-527[d] and providing that the agency head give "due regard" to hearing officer's ability to observe witnesses and determine credibility).

The statute doesn't define the term substantial evidence, but caselaw has long held that it is such evidence as a reasonable person might accept as being sufficient to support a conclusion. *Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Kansas, Inc. V. Prager*, 276 Kan. 232, 263, 75 P. 3d 226 (2003). With the statutory amendments, we have simply been told to look more completely at the record in determining whether substantial evidence supports the agency decision.

The amended statute finally reminds us that we do not reweigh the evidence or engage in de novo review, in which we would give no deference to the administrative agency's factual findings. Indeed, the administrative process is set up to allow an agency and its officials to gain expertise in a particular field, thus allowing the application of that expertise in the fact-finding process. But we now must consider all of the evidence-including evidence that detracts from an agency's factual findings-when we assess whether the evidence is substantial enough to support those findings. Thus, the appellate court now must determine whether the evidence supporting an agency's decision has been so undermined by cross examination or other evidence that it is insufficient to support the agency's conclusion.

Herrera-Gallegos v. H & H Delivery Service, Inc., 42 Kan. App. 2d 360, 362-363, 212 P. 3d 239, 242 (2009)(internal emphasis and citation included).

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

1) Is the Board's determination that the appellee suffered permanent impairment as a result of his accident of November 16, 2010, supported by substantial competent evidence?

Under the award, as affirmed by the Appeals Board, it was found that, as the result of the November 16, 2010, accident, appellee suffered a 5% whole body impairment to his neck and a 56% work disability. K.S.A. 44-510d(a) provides that an award of permanent disability must be the result of the injury. Under *Casco v. Armour Swift-Eckrich*, 283 Kan. 508; 154 P. 3d 494_(2007), an award of permanent disability for any injury not covered under the scheduled provided in K.S.A. 44-510d, is covered under K.S.A. 44-510e, *Id. HN 10*. As permanent impairment to the neck or cervical spine is not covered under the schedule set forth in K.S.A. 44-510d, the determination of the nature and extent of the appellee's injury must be determined under K.S.A. 44-510e.

On November 16, 2010, appellee was involved in a motor vehicle accident from which appellee initially complained of neck pain. However, after an initial evaluation by Dr. Mead on November 18, 2010, from which neither treatment nor restrictions were recommended, appellee did not seek further evaluation of his neck until January 7, 2011, when he was also seen for shoulder complaints which was the subject of Docket No. 1,053,922. Even on this date, and as it pertains to the appellee's neck complaints, no treatment was recommended, no restrictions were imposed and he was released from care.(ROA Vol. 7, Pages 19- 25, 26; Exh. 3, 5 & 6) More importantly, however, the records of that visit show that appellee had informed Dr. Mead that the symptoms he experienced to his neck after the November

16, 2010, motor vehicle accident had completely resolved. In the records of that visit it states...

"This gentleman had a motor vehicle accident in November. He reports some temporary worsening in his neck complaints. He reports that his symptoms or rebound back to where they were before." (ROA Vol. 7, Page 3, Exh. 3)

When questioned about this statement, Dr. Mead acknowledged that it meant that any symptoms appellee had resulting from the November 16, 2010, motor vehicle accident had completely resolved. (ROA Vol. 7, Page 25) Therefore, appellee, by his own volition, was representing to the treating doctor, less than two months after the November 16, 2010, accident, that he had fully recovered.

Appellee's medical expert, Edward Prostic, M.D., likewise does not offer any opinion that the appellee suffered permanent injury as the result of the accident on November 16, 2010. When he first saw appellee on January 14, 2011, Dr. Prostic offered that appellee suffered a sprain/strain injury mostly due to the November 16, 2010, injury.(ROA Vol. 5, Page 27) However, through the course of the other two evaluations he performed on the appellee, Dr. Prostic ultimately offered that ... "none of the current permanency is from the more recent motor vehicle accident." (ROA Vol. 5, Pages 56-57) It is important to note that appellee had a motor vehicle accident while working for a previous employer which resulted in permanent impairment to his neck. (ROA Vol. 3, Page 72) Therefore Dr. Prostic is stating that the permanent impairment he offers is not attributable to the appellee's motor vehicle accident of

November 16, 2010. Appellant's medical expert, Chris Fevurly, M.D., also agrees that the November 16, 2010, motor vehicle accident did not result in permanent impairment to appellee.(ROA Vol. 6, Page 21)

The record contains no medical opinion that the injuries from the November 16, 2010, accident resulted in permanent disability. On January 7, 2011, appellee acknowledged, to the treating doctor, that his symptoms resulting from the November 16, 2010, accident had completely resolved. Based upon this evidence, the record does not support any finding of permanent impairment resulting from the appellee's admitted temporary injuries caused by the November 16, 2010, motor vehicle accident. K.S.A. 44-510e requires that the disability resulting from the injury must be partial in character and permanent in quality. Appellee's disability resulting from the injuries sustained in the November 16, 2010, accident herein were, at best, temporary. There is no opinion that such disability was permanent in quality so as to support an award of permanent disability.

2) Was the date of accident issue raised for the first time on appeal?

The Appeals Board found that the parties stipulated to a November 16, 2010, date of accident and that appellant, for the first time on appeal, alleged a different date of accident. (ROA Vol. 1, Page 7 &8) Appellant believes that the Appeals Board misconstrued its arguments to include the date of accident.

It was on November 16, 2010, that appellee was involved in a motor vehicle accident while operating one of the appellant's work vehicles. (ROA Vol. 3, Page 64)

Appellant was aware of this motor vehicle accident as evidenced by its referral of appellee for evaluation and treatment with Dr. Mead on November 18, 2010. (ROA Vol. 3 Pages 64-65). For docketing his claim, appellee filed an Application for Hearing with the Division on December 29, 2010. When asked on that application for the date of accident or disease, appellee listed . . . "On or about 11-16-10 any series afterward". When asked on the application to state specifically the exact cause and source of accident/disease, appellee listed . . . "Car accident any series afterwards." (ROA Vol. 1, Page 3) A copy of the application is attached hereto as Exhibit "A".

Since the appellant was aware that the appellee was involved in a singular traumatic accident in the form of the motor vehicle accident of November 16, 2010, it could not deny that the appellee suffered an accident on that date. Appellant has never contended that the appellee had not suffer an accident on November 16, 2010. The only argument that appellant has offered is that the November 16, 2010, accident or any series arising from that accident did not result in a finding of permanent disability.

3) Can anticipated injuries be claimed under the Act?

The administrative law judge stated, for the record, at the Regular Hearing that the parties stipulated to the November 16, 2010. date of accident. (ROA Vol. 3, Page 12) However, the Appeals Board is interpreting that stipulation to include any repetitive injury at any time since November 16, 2010. (ROA Vol. 1, Page 93)

Appellant never stipulated to any series of accidents which did not arise from the November 16, 2010, accident. Under the interpretation of the stipulation utilized by the Appeals Board, the appellant would have had to deny the date of accident to be allowed to present argument that appellee suffered no permanent injury as the result of the November 16, 2010 accident. However, if such denial was asserted, appellant would have been in violation of the Division's regulations pertaining to pre-trial stipulations since it had knowledge of the appellee's motor vehicle accident.

K.A.R. 51-3-8 (c) provides, in part . . . "The respondent shall be prepared to admit any and all facts that the respondent cannot justifiably deny...". Appellant could not justifiably deny that the appellee had a motor vehicle accident on November 16, 2010. Therefore, it did stipulate to November 16, 2010, as the date of accident.

The Appeals Board also issued a finding that appellant is raising new law defenses which were never previously raised. (ROA Vol. 1, Page 93) What the Appeals Board has failed to recognize is that appellant is not raising a new law defense but, only arguing that the evidence does not support any finding of permanent impairment from the injuries arising from the November 16, 2010, accident be it the singular accident itself, or any series arising from that singular accident. Appellant provided an example to the Appeals Board of the evidence supporting that if appellee suffered a series of repetitive injury, such series did not result from the November 16, 2010, accident. Appellant has consistently argued that the November 16, 2010, accident did not result in permanent impairment.

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