FILED

JUN 1 0 2014

HEATHER L. SMITH CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

CASE NO. 13-110872-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

BRIAN S. SACHS CLAIMANT/APPELLEE

V.

CITY OF TOPEKA Respondent, Self-Insured

BRIEF OF CLAIMANT/APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE BOARD OF APPEALS DIVISION OF WORKERS COMPENSATION STATE OF KANSAS

DOCKET NO. 1,053,925

GEORGE H. PEARSON III, #10982
212 SW 8th ST., SUITE 101
TOPEKA, KANSAS 66603
PHONE (785)266-4466
FAX (785) 266-4475
email: georgepearsonlaw@sbcglobal.net
ATTORNEY FOR CLAIMANT/APPELLEE

CASE NO. 13-110872-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

BRIAN S. SACHS CLAIMANT/APPELLEE

v.

CITY OF TOPEKA Respondent, Self-Insured

NATURE OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF ISSUES
STATEMENT OF FACTS
ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES.
Demars v. Rickel Manufacturing Corp., 223 Kan. 374 (1978)
Strasser v. Jones, 186 Kan. 507 (1960) Syl. 2
Holler v. Dickey Clay Mfg. Co., 157 Kan. 355, syl. 6. 365, 139 P. 2d 846, 148 A. L.R. 1131
Copenhaver v. Sykes, 160 Kan. 238, syl. 1, p. 243, 160 p. 2d 235
Kauffman v. Co-operative Refinery Assn. 170 Kan. 325, 328, 225 P. 2d 129 10
Johnson v. Skelly Oil Co., 181 Kan. 655, 656, 312 P. 2d 1076
Chinn v. Gay & Taylor, Inc., 219 Kan 196, 547 P. 2d 751 (1976)
CONCLUSION
Scammahorn v. Gibraltar Savings Loan Assn., 197 Kan. 410, 415, 416 P. 2d 771(1966)
CEDTIFICATE OF SERVICE

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a workers compensation case in which respondent has appealed the Board of Appeals Order of November 6, 2013 upholding an Award entered by the Honorable Rebecca A. Sanders, Administrative Law Judge on June 18, 2013. By appealing the Award entered by the Administrative Law Judge and the Board of Appeals Order affirming it, respondent raised again on appeal an issue which was stipulated to at the Administrative Law Judge level, that being the accident date of November 16, 2010 which it had attempted for the first time on appeal to the Board to withdraw or change its Stipulation to argue a different and later accident date which would change the applicable law which would apply to the case. Claimant filed an Application for Hearing for a November 16, 2010 accident on December 23, 2010 and respondent stipulated to that accident date for a motor vehicle accident and multiple repetitive aggravations while performing repetitive work thereafter. The Board concluded that to allow respondent to withdraw from its Stipulation would prejudice the claimant's rights and did not allow it in denying respondent's appeal because it recognized claimant relied upon the Stipulation in preparing and prosecuting his case in chief.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether respondent can withdraw from its Stipulation as to the accident date of November 16, 2010 for the first time on appeal at the Board of Appeals level?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Claimant is 43 years of age with a GED. He was employed with respondent as a utility systems worker for approximately six years. His job duties primarily consisted of testing water hydrants and shoveling dirt after water main breaks. In order to turn on water hydrants to

test the flow, claimant used a large, heavy wrench that he cranked in a circular motion. This activity was performed continuously for about 10-15 minutes and done 15-20 times a day. Shoveling dirt was done for approximately fifteen minutes each time for four to six times a day. (ROA., Vol. 3, pp. 19-20)

- 2. On November 16, 2010, while performing his job duties, claimant was involved in a motor vehicle accident. Claimant testified the only injury he sustained in that accident was to his neck. He was referred by respondent to Donald Mead, M.D., who is board-certified in occupational medicine. (ROA., Vol. 3, pp. 26-27)
- 3. Claimant filed his application for hearing known as an E-1 on December 23, 2010 claiming a "car accident followed by a series afterwards" (see attached E-1; ROA., Vol. 1 p.3)
- 4. Claimant was sent by respondent to Dr. Mead on November 18, 2010. Claimant had back discomfort and moderate neck pain with no radiculopathy. Claimant's pain level was a 5 on a 1-10 pain scale. Claimant advised Dr. Mead that he had chronic neck pain for the last 10 years and was seeing a chiropractor on an as-needed basis. Dr. Mead diagnosed claimant with a cervical strain and prescribed an anti-inflammatory and a muscle relaxer. Claimant was released to regular duty with no restrictions. (ROA., Vol. 7, pp. 18-19 and Exhibits 4 and 5)
- 5. Claimant's application for hearing was received by the Division of Workers

 Compensation on December 23, 2010. Claimant alleged a date of accident on or about 11-16-10 followed by a series afterward due to "car accident and series afterwards" which injured his back, neck and affected extremities. (ROA., Vol. 1, p.3) On December 29, 2010, the Division emailed a "Notice of Hearing/Application for Hearing" to the Topeka City Attorney's Office.

 The notice listed the accident as "Series 11-16-10." (see attached Notice; ROA., Vol. 1, p.3)
 - 6. On January 7, 2011, claimant returned to Dr. Mead for a recheck of his neck. Nurses

notes indicated claimant complained of neck and shoulder pain which he estimated at a 7-8 on a 1-10 pain scale. There was also a reference indicating claimant "states has a lawyer and told to tell that has pain from repetitive motion." (ROA., Vol. 7, Exhibit 5 at p.2)

- 7. From January 10, 2011 to May 12, 2011 a period of 4 months the claimant was off work and received temporary total disability compensation while being treated for his bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, but received no treatment for his neck. Claimant returned to work on May 13, 2011 and almost immediately began missing work due to neck pain. Mr. Sachs explained the difference between his symptoms preexisting November 16, 2010 and thereafter as follows:
 - "Q. What is different about your symptoms from November 16, 2010, than this long history that's documented?
 - A. It's been more severe.
 - Q. In what way?
 - A. Just burning.
 - Q. Is it in the exact same location?
 - A. Well, yeah, almost, its move -- up the back of my head more.
 - Q. Did it come up the back of your head before November 16th?
 - A. Somewhat, but not very much.
 - Q. So you're saying it's pretty much in the same location; it just is worse?
 - A. Yes.
 - Q. Is it more intense?
 - A. Yes.
 - Q. What about the frequency?
 - A. It -- does it come and go intermittedly and --

- Q. Quit talking when I'm asking the question. Does it come and go, or is it there all the time?
- A. It comes and goes.
- O. And it did that before November 16, 2010?
- A. Uh, yes.
- Q. And
- A. But it wasn't, you know --
- Q. Does it come and go at the same duration as before November 16, 2010, the same frequency of having the pain?
- A. No.
- Q. What's -- what do you mean?
- A. Its more severe since --
- Q. Well, I think we got that your saying it hurts more, its more severe. What I'm asking you is, you said it isn't there constantly; its intermittent, it comes and goes. Is it more often that you have it now than before or not?
- A. Oh. Yes, it's more often.
- Q. And how -- how is it more often? How so? Give me an opinion -- your opinion as to how much more often you have it.
- A. Before it may have only been once or twice a month. Now its two or three times a week."

- 8. Claimant requested treatment of his neck complaints from Dr. Gilbert and Dr. Wallace while treating with them for his bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome and shoulders between January 10, 2011 and May 12, 2011, but was provided none. (ROA., Vol. 3, pp. 31-32)
- 9. The evidence shows that Mr. Sachs had only occasional manageable neck pain prior to his November 16, 2010 motor vehicle accident. Prior to this accident Mr. Sachs

was seen by Dr. Mead on October 20, 2010 and several times prior to that date for other health issues with no complaints of neck pain. (ROA., Vol. 7, pp. 15-16) Mr. Sachs according to Dr. Mead reported chronic neck symptoms with periodic chiropractic care over 10 years prior to the November 16, 2010 motor vehicle accident. (ROA., Vol. 7, pp. 18-19) After the November 16, 2010 accident, Dr. Mead diagnosed a cervical strain and provided no medical care for the neck. Dr. Mead testified that when he saw the claimant on January 7, 2011 he was advised by Mr. Sachs that his neck complaints from the November 16, 2010 motor vehicle accident had rebounded back to where they were before the accident, meaning the increase in neck symptoms due to the accident had resolved. (ROA., Vol. 7, pp. 24-25) This is contradicted by the St. Francis Health Center Emergency Department Supplemental Nursing Notes, in which Brian Sachs complained of radiating neck pain with severity of 7-8 out of 10 and accompanied by tingling would negate Dr. Mead's contention that the claimant had recovered from his neck injury sustained on November 16, 2010 by January 7, 2011. Nevertheless, Dr. Mead released the claimant from care for his neck with no treatment whatsoever despite the report of a 7-8 out of 10 intensity of symptoms.

(ROA., Vol. 7, Exhibit 5, p. 2)

- 10. The same Emergency Department Supplemental Nursing Note dated January 7, 2011 contains the following notation: "States has a lawyer & told to tell that his pain from repetitive motion c/o pain shoulders & neck." To clarify, George Pearson was not the attorney of record for claimant on January 7, 2011. (ROA., Vol. 7, Exhibit 5, p. 2)
- 11. Mr. Sachs was ultimately fired by respondent on December 14, 2011 for excessive use of Leave Without Pay. (ROA., Vol. 3, p. 33)
 - 12. From January 7, 2011 to May 12, 2011, claimant was off work for injuries

concerning the other docketed cases, including his upper extremities and shoulders. Claimant did not receive treatment for his neck during this time, but had a February 7, 2011 EMG. The EMG report stated, among other complaints, that claimant had neck pain. Such EMG was interpreted as showing no clear findings for cervical radiculopathy. (ROA., Vol. 3, p. 30 and EMG Stipulations filed April 25, 2013, Exh. A and B)

- 13. Claimant testified his neck did not bother him as much when he was off work. However, on May 13, 2011, claimant returned to work without restrictions and soon began missing work due to neck pain. Claimant testified he would write on leave request forms that his need for leave was related to his severe neck pain. He thought such notation on the leave forms would result in him being referred for treatment. When claimant was disciplined about his absences, he informed respondent that his absences were due to neck pain and that he wanted treatment for his neck. (ROA., Vol. 3, pp. 31-32, 35-38 and 41 and pp. 124-125) Respondent acknowledged claimant wrote on the forms that he was off due to neck pain, but denied he ever requested medical treatment.
- 14. Dr. Prostic assigned a 10% impairment to the body as a whole for claimant's cervical spine, pursuant to the 4th Edition, AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (hereafter Guides)¹. Dr. Prostic discounted claimant's impairment from a 15% whole body rating under DRE Category III based on good range of motion, no positive nerve root signs and no obvious neurological deficit to 10% of the whole body. (ROA., Vol. 5, p. 40)
- 15. On September 7, 2011, claimant's new attorney sent a letter to respondent's attorney demanding medical treatment for claimant's back, neck and carpal tunnel. (ROA., Vol. 3, p. 123)

¹ American Medical Association, Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (4th ed.)

- 16. Claimant's employment was terminated on December 14, 2011 due to excessive unauthorized absences. Claimant estimated he requested medical treatment for his neck approximately ten times between his return to work until his termination. (ROA., Vol. 3, pp. 32-24)
- 17. Claimant claims that he did not have problems with his neck prior to November 16, 2010 except for the minor neck injury he had January 5, 2001 while he was employed with U.S.D. 501. Claimant settled that workers compensation claim in 2003. Claimant also received chiropractic treatment for his neck due to intermittent minor neck pain that claimant had once or twice a month. (ROA., Vol. 3, pp. 72-73 and 94)
- 18. Claimant contends that he had significant increase in neck pain after November 16, 2010. That pain was more severe than before with a burning sensation. The severity of the pain increased and occurs three times a week, as opposed to once or twice monthly before. (ROA., Vol. 3, pp. 84-87)
- 19. Claimant was eventually sent to Michael Smith, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon, in February 2012. Dr. Smith ordered an MRI, steroid injections to the neck (which were administered by Dr. Giroux) and physical therapy. This treatment was provided as a result of claimant's attorney's September 7, 2011 demand. While surgery was discussed, claimant declined it because he wanted to see how the injections worked. Claimant testified the injections provided fleeting relief. He was released by Dr. Smith on April 24, 2012. (ROA., Vol. 3, pp. 44-48 and 70)
- 20. Claimant returned to Dr. Prostic at his attorney's request on September 4, 2012 complaining of a continuing neck ache with difficulty sleeping. Dr. Prostic noted that claimant had undergone facet injections and medial branch nerve blocks. An x-ray of the cervical spine

showed straightening of the lordotic curve with degenerative changes. It was Dr. Prostic's opinion that "repetitious forceful activities with his upper extremities" caused claimant's neck injury. While Dr. Prostic indicated claimant did not have evidence of cervical radiculopathy, it was his belief that claimant would require more treatment in the future. Dr. Prostic rated claimant with a 10% impairment to the body as a whole pursuant to the *Guides*. Dr. Prostic testified he increased the impairment rating because claimant had facet injections and medial branch nerve blocks. Dr. Prostic felt if claimant was willing to subject himself to that kind of painful treatment, his symptoms must have been more severe that he previously thought. (ROA., Vol. 5 pp. 10, 12, 41-43, Exh.5)

- 21 Dr. Prostic attributed the neck impairment initially to the motor vehicle accident and then to claimant's repetitive work wrenching water hydrants and shoveling. (ROA., Vol. 5, pp. 51-57)
- 22. As a result of the work injury, Dr. Prostic provided restrictions of medium-level employment. Dr. Prostic reviewed a task list prepared by Dick Santner and testified claimant was unable to perform 14 of the 58 non-duplicative tasks for a 24% task loss, all attributable to claimant's neck and shoulders. (ROA., Vol. 5, Exh. 6)
- 23. At a November 20, 2012 prehearing settlement conference, the parties stipulated that the date of accident in Docket No. 1,053,925 was November 16, 2010. (ROA., Vol. 3, p.8)
- 24. Claimant testified that other than a cervical injury in 2001 while employed by U.S.D. 501, which he settled in 2003, he did not have prior neck problems. Between 2003 and 2010, claimant received chiropractic treatment once or twice a month to keep his symptoms under control. Claimant testified that since November 16, 2010, he has had a significant increase in neck pain. He described the pain as a burning sensation and more severe than a tension headache. The pain is located at the back of the skull and neck. While the severity of the pain

varies, the more severe pain occurs three times a week. (ROA., Vol. 3, pp. 84-87)

25. Claimant has been unemployed since his termination by respondent on December 14, 2011. (ROA., Vol. 3, pp. 51-52)

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

When a worker's job duties aggravate or accelerate an existing condition or disease or intensify a preexisting condition, the aggravation becomes compensable as a work-related accident. *Demars v. Rickel Manufacturing Corp.*, 223 Kan. 374 (1978). As set forth in the time-tested and longstanding case of *Strasser v. Jones*, 186 Kan. 507 (1960) Syl. 2

"The workmen's compensation act prescribes no standard of health for workmen, and where a workman sustains an accidental injury arising out of and in the course of his employment he is not to be denied compensation merely because of a pre-existing physical condition, for it is well settled that an accidental injury is compensable where the accident serves only to aggravate or accelerate an existing disease or intensifies the affliction."

This 1960 Supreme Court case was still good law at the time of claimant's accident and applicable to the facts in the instant case. In *Strasser* the claimant suffered a tiny perforation of the bowel straining to lift an I-beam causing aggravation of a preexisting cancerous condition. The evidence was that the cancerous condition had existed prior to the date of the alleged accidental lifting injury. The Supreme Court affirmed a finding of permanent total disability from the time of the accident until the claimant's death from cancer because the bowel rupture caused delay in claimant's cancer surgery because the rupture had to be repaired and the infection cleared up before claimant could have cancer surgery. In affirming the permanent total disability award for the time preceding claimant's death from cancer, the Supreme Court discussed

the rule pertaining to aggravation of a preexisting condition or disease at 186 Kan. 507 at 511:

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